**RECEIVED**

**Jun 06 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY  
George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001681  
Case No. 2019-CP-43-1021

---

Kimberly Welch, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Judy  
Ann Haselden,..... Respondent,

v.

Michael D. Smoak and Murray Sand Co., Inc.,..... Appellants.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

---

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN  
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202  
Post Office Box 6923  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 881-8920

JEFFREY T. AMMONS  
SARAH RAND-McDANIEL  
S. WALLACE CARNWATH, III

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court commit errors of law and abuse its discretion in granting the Respondent's motion for sanctions and striking the Appellants' answer thereby holding them in default?
  - A. Did the trial court err in concluding the Appellants had violated court orders?
  - B. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in concluding that the production of the three pages of Blue Max Trucking records on September 30, 2021 warranted the striking of the Appellants' answer?
  - C. Did the trial court fail to properly exercise its discretion in considering lesser and more narrowly tailored sanctions as available to address the misconduct as found?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of a motor vehicle accident that occurred in Sumter County on February 9, 2017. The Respondent's decedent, Judy Haselden, was rear-ended by a tractor-trailer driven by the Appellant Michael D. Smoak and owned by his employer, Murray Sand Company, Inc. Smoak was acting within the course and scope of his employment when the accident occurred. Smoak was hauling a load of rip-rap from Kershaw County to Edisto Beach, where Crowder Construction Company was involved in a beach renourishment project.

Judy Haselden filed her initial complaint against the Appellants on February 9, 2017 (R. 41-46), and she filed an amended complaint on September 3, 2020. (R. 363-368). Those pleadings allege claims for negligence and negligent hiring, training, and supervision. Liability for the collision is not disputed, but there are issues in dispute related to damages and medical causation. (R. 370). The accident itself involved minimal property damage, and there were no complaints of injury at the scene. Haselden, in fact, drove her vehicle from the scene.

Judy Haselden passed away in February 2024, and by order filed May 15, 2024, the Appellant Kimberly Welch, as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Judy Haselden, was substituted as the Plaintiff. (R. 35-37).

On March 22, 2023, Haselden filed a motion for sanctions requesting that the trial court strike the Appellants' answer and hold them in default. (R. 375-388). A hearing was held before Circuit Court Judge George M. McFaddin, Jr. on August 4, 2023. (R. 676-733). Thereafter, on February 12, 2024, Judge McFaddin issued a sanctions order granting the motion for sanctions and striking the Appellants' answers thereby holding them in default. (R. 14-34).

The Appellants filed a motion for reconsideration which was denied by form order filed September 8, 2024. (R. 38-40). The Appellants thereafter filed a timely appeal to this Court.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The imposition of sanctions is generally entrusted to the sound discretion of the Circuit Court.” *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., Inc.*, 327 S.C. 538, 489 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1997). “A trial court’s exercise of its discretionary powers with respect to sanctions imposed in discovery matters will be interfered with by the Court of Appeals only if an abuse of discretion has occurred.” *Id.* “The burden is upon the party appealing from the order to demonstrate the trial court abused its discretion.” *Id.* “An abuse of discretion may be found where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the trial court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law.” *Id.*

## ARGUMENTS

**I. The trial court committed errors of law and abused its discretion in granting the Respondent’s motion for sanctions and striking the Appellants’ answer thereby holding them in default.**

As a discovery sanction, the trial court struck the Appellants’ answers and has held both Appellants in default. The Appellants dispute that their conduct during discovery warrants sanctions, and even if some sanction was warranted, the trial court abused its discretion in awarding the harshest sanction available. The trial court failed to properly exercise its discretion in considering lesser and more narrowly tailored sanctions as available to address the misconduct as found. For that reason, the Appellants seek a reversal of the trial court’s sanctions order.

Under South Carolina law, “[t]he imposition of sanctions is generally entrusted to the sound discretion of the Circuit Court.” *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., Inc.*, 327 S.C. 538, 489 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1997). “A trial court’s exercise of its discretionary powers with respect to sanctions imposed in discovery matters will be interfered with by the Court of Appeals only if an abuse of discretion has occurred.” *Id.* “The burden is upon the party appealing from the order to demonstrate the trial court abused its discretion.” *Id.* “An abuse of discretion may be found where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the trial court was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, thereby amounting to an error of law.” *Id.*

It is well settled that “Rule 37 expressly grants the trial court power to order judgment by default for either the violation of a court order, or, upon motion, for a party’s failure to respond to certain discovery requests.” *Karppi*, 489 S.E.2d at 682, *citing* Rule 37(b)(2)(C) and Rule 37(d), SCRPC. “However, when the court orders default or dismissal, or the sanction itself

results in default or dismissal, the end result is nevertheless harsh medicine that should not be administered lightly.” *Id.* As this Court has further recognized, “the sanction imposed should be reasonable, and the Court should not go beyond the necessities of the situation to foreclose a decision on the merits of a case.” *Balloon Plantation, Inc. v. Head Balloons, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 152, 399 S.E.2d 439, 440 (Ct. App. 1990). Additionally, it is imperative that “the sanction should be aimed at the specific misconduct of the party sanctioned. In other words, the sanction should be a rifle-shot, not a shotgun blast.” *Id.* Moreover, “[a] sanction which results in a default or dismissal is harsh punishment which should be imposed only if there is some showing of wilful disobedience or gross indifference to the rights of the adverse party.” *Karppi*, 399 S.E.2d at 684 (Anderson, J., concurring). As Judge Anderson further explains in his concurrence in *Karppi*,

The sanction of striking pleadings should not be lightly used, since it can amount to judgment against the delinquent party without an opportunity to be heard on the merits. A default judgment is clearly a drastic remedy and should be resorted to only in extreme situations, as where it is determined that counsel or a party has acted willfully or in bad faith in failing to comply with rules of discovery or with court orders enforcing the rules or in flagrant disregard of those rules or orders or persists in an outright refusal to comply with discovery obligations, or where there is a series of episodes of nonfeasance on the part of counsel amounting to a near total dereliction of professional responsibility and going well beyond ordinary negligence.

*Id.*

It is also well-settled that a failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of that discretion. *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987) (“[w]hen the trial judge is vested with discretion, but his ruling reveals no discretion was, in fact, exercised, an error of law has occurred”). The case of *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 495 S.E.2d 213 (Ct. App. 1997), is instructive. In that case, this Court explained as follows: “Although the trial judge in this case correctly framed the issue as discovery abuse, he did not weigh the required factors. A

failure to exercise discretion amounts to an abuse of discretion.” 495 S.E.2d at 216. *See also, State v. Smith*, 276 S.C. 494, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981) (“the mere recital of the discretionary decision is not sufficient to bring into operation a determination that discretion was exercised. It should be stated on what basis that discretion was exercised”).

In the case at bar, the trial court used a “shotgun blast” and abused its discretion in failing to consider lesser and more narrowly tailored sanctions for the discovery misconduct found. This is most evident because the trial court failed to consider or address the nature of the claim, the Appellants’ admitted liability for the motor vehicle accident, the significance of the discovery at issue to any issues truly in dispute for trial, and the impact of the Appellants’ insurance coverage on the Respondent’s claims of prejudice. The trial court’s lack of discretion in those aspects of the sanctions analysis demonstrates an abuse of discretion warranting a reversal of the trial court’s imposition of the harshest sanction available.

Additionally, the trial court abused its discretion by failing to differentiate between the Appellants. The trial court awarded the harshest sanction available against the Appellant Michael D. Smoak; yet, the court never identified any discovery abuse or misconduct actually committed by Smoak.<sup>1</sup> This is particularly critical because this Court in *Karppi* found an abuse of discretion where the trial court failed to differentiate between multiple parties or consider the impact on multiple-party litigation. This Court, in fact, explained that “[t]he need for the trial

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court has recognized that a litigant may be sanctioned for discovery abuses committed by his counsel. *See, Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc.*, 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716, 719 (Ct. App. 1999) (“the acts of an attorney are directly attributable to and binding on the client”). However, that rule has no applicability here. The trial court found no evidence of any discovery-related wrongdoing by the Appellants’ counsel. Specifically, the trial court ruled as follows: “Before discussing this ruling in more detail, the Court notes that Plaintiff does not contend the discovery abuses in this case were orchestrated by defense counsel. Based on its review of the record, the Court agrees and finds that the prejudice Plaintiff has suffered is directly attributable to Defendants’ bad faith conduct.” (R. 21).

court to narrowly tailor its sanction to the offense committed by a party is never more evident than in cases involving multiple parties. Where, as here, multiple parties are involved, the trial court must closely scrutinize the dynamics of the litigation and be extremely cautious before striking the pleadings of a transgressing party because of the effects such action is likely to have on the other parties.” *Karppi*, 489 S.E.2d at 682.

**A. The Appellants did not violate any court orders and certainly not in such a manner to warrant the ultimate sanction of striking an answer.**

While it is true that Rule 37(d), SCRPC, does allow for an award of sanctions absent the violation of a court order, it is also true that existing precedent has not permitted a trial court to award the ultimate sanction of striking an answer in the absence of the violation of a court order. In fact, in *Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Bank & Trust Co.*, 423 S.C. 432, 814 S.E.2d 643 (Ct. App. 2018), this Court affirmed the trial court’s refusal to strike an answer where there was no violation of a court order. In that case, the appellant cited five appellate decisions where the ultimate sanction of striking an answer was affirmed. But this Court readily distinguished those cases by pointing out that “unlike the defendants in the cited cases, BB&T and Edahl never violated a court order.” 814 S.E.2d at 657.

The same is true in the present case. Contrary to the trial court’s ruling, the Appellants never violated a court order. In its sanctions order, the trial court found that the Appellants “failed to comply with several orders” and cited to the August 27, 2020 order and the consent scheduling order filed May 17, 2021. (R. 28). Both of those orders require close examination.

First, the only order adjudicating an actual motion to compel filed by the parties is the August 27, 2020 Order. In its sanctions order, the trial court ruled: “To this day, Defendants have

not complied with the Court's August 27, 2020 Order granting Plaintiff's motion to compel directing Defendants to produce all post-accident incident reports and post-accident drug testing." (R. 28). The trial court is in error. That motion to compel addressed three limited issues: (1) the existence of the alleged post-accident report prepared by the Appellant Smoak, (2) the existence of the alleged post-accident drug test given to Smoak, and (3) a dispute whether the Respondent was entitled to claim file materials from a liability insurance company. (R. 7). The resulting order "granted" the motion to compel as to the alleged post-accident incident report and the alleged post-accident drug test, but the trial court also acknowledged that "during the hearing, Defendant's counsel represented as an officer of the Court that extensive efforts to locate these documents to date has [sic] been fruitless and responsive documents are not in her possession." (R. 8). The transcript from the May 19, 2020 motion hearing also reflects that the court was advised that extensive searches had been undertaken and those documents had not been located. (R. 667-668). The August 27, 2020 Order reflects that the trial court was satisfied with the explanation for the missing documents (if they indeed existed at one time). The only affirmative relief awarded by the trial court did not even pertain to those documents, but rather to the claims file information. (R. 9). The trial court expressly ordered that "Plaintiff may seek any non-privileged and relevant materials mentioned above directly from Murray Sand, or through Travelers, by way of the subpoena process." (R. 9). There was no specific direction by the trial court for the Appellants to take further action as to any incident report or drug test.<sup>2</sup> Moreover, no sanctions were requested nor awarded. In fact, there was no request even for a spoliation charge, which would be an appropriate lesser

---

<sup>2</sup> In its sanctions order, the trial court noted that "Defendants have never produced an affidavit of a records custodian explaining that the test results do not exist." (R. 28). Yet, the August 27, 2020 Order did not direct the Appellants to produce such an affidavit and there was no discussion of such an affidavit during the hearing. If requested to provide such an affidavit, the Appellants would have complied and remain willing to do so. That, in fact, is an example of a lesser sanction or resolution of the issue, short of striking an answer.

sanction to be imposed where a court determines there is a willful loss or destruction of pertinent records. Certainly, there is no basis for the “shotgun blast” of striking an answer for the violation, if any, of the August 27, 2020 Order.

By way of further explanation, the Appellants have offered credible explanations for the failure to locate and produce any post-accident report or post-accident drug test. The Respondent claims that such documents exist based solely on the deposition testimony of the Appellant Smoak. Yet, based on due diligence and its search, the Appellant Murray Sand believes that Smoak’s testimony was mistaken and such documents never existed. As the evidence reflects, the Appellants’ counsel made multiple trips to Murray Sand’s offices to search for such records. The Appellants, however, cannot produce what they do not have and which may never have existed.

Indeed, the most reasonable explanation for the non-existence of those documents is that Smoak misspoke because he was given a post-accident drug test following a subsequent motor vehicle accident while employed at Murray Sand. Murray Sand produced all documents in its possession relating to the subsequent accident, including a copy of a negative post-accident drug test conducted at Lowcountry Drug Screening. More importantly, the accident at issue in this case would not have required Murray Sand to administer a drug test because, pursuant to federal regulations, carriers are only required to drug test employees in post-accident situations where the employee receives a citation and there is a fatality, bodily injury with immediate medical treatment, or disabling damage to the vehicle. *See*, 49 C.F.R. § 382.303. In this case, the Respondent did not die, did not undergo immediate medical treatment for bodily injury, and was able to drive her vehicle from the scene with a slightly bent bumper. As photographic evidence confirms, the property damage was minimal. (R. 545). Furthermore, there is no evidence that the investigating officer suspected Smoak was under the influence. (R. 547-548). Therefore, it is most plausible that

Murray Sand did not require Smoak to submit for testing and that Smoak was thinking of the later accident when he testified that there was a drug test. Consequently, improper speculation about the existence of these documents cannot support the severe sanction of striking an answer, particularly where there are available lesser and more appropriate sanctions, such as a spoliation charge, if warranted. In deciding the appropriate sanction, it is also important to recognize that the Appellants' liability for the motor vehicle accident is not disputed, and hence, these documents are not relevant to any issues truly in dispute for trial.

Second, the trial court found that the Appellants violated the written discovery deadline of September 1, 2021, as contained in a consent scheduling order dated May 17, 2021. (R. 11-13). The trial court found that "Defendants' violation of this order was particularly egregious" because "Defendants produced over 5,000 documents after the discovery deadline and after representing to the Court and Plaintiff on multiple occasions that they had conducted exhaustive searches and produced all documents in their possession." (R. 28). However, the deadline in the consent scheduling order expressly stated: "Written discovery shall be completed no later than September 1, 2021. This shall not limit the parties from supplementing written discovery responses, nor shall it limit the parties from serving Requests to Admit pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. 19-1-60." (R. 11). The 5,000 pages of documents to which the trial court referred were produced on September 30, 2021, which was *less than a month* after the deadline.<sup>3</sup> Moreover, supplemental discovery responses were expressly provided for and required by the language of the consent scheduling order. And finally, it is important to review what was actually included in the 5,000 pages of documents. They consisted primarily of 3,096 pages of the Respondent's medical records obtained

---

<sup>3</sup> The trial court called it "5,000 documents," but in reality, it was 5,000 pages of documents.

by way of multiple subpoenas to medical providers,<sup>4</sup> 763 pages of documents received by subpoena from the South Carolina Youth Advocate Program (SCYAP),<sup>5</sup> and 763 pages of tax returns. By the trial court's own count, there were less than 350 pages of "new" documents pertaining to subjects other than medical records, tax returns, and SCYAP records.

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