RECEIVED

Jun 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SUMTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001681
C/A No. 2019-CP-43-01021

Kimberly Welch, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Judy Ann Haselden,..... Respondent,

v.

Michael D. Smoak and Murray Sand Co., Inc.,..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**SMITH ROBINSON HOLLER
DUBOSE AND MORGAN, LLC**

G. Murrell Smith, Jr. (SC Bar No. 66263)
PO Box 580
Sumter, SC 29151
(803) 778-2471
murrell@smithrobinsonlaw.com

Frederick N. Hanna, Jr. (SC Bar No. 104659)
3200 Devine Street
Columbia, SC 29205

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

Regardless of whether discovery abuse involves the violation of a court order, the concealment of discoverable information, or other misconduct, the circuit court's role is the same. The court must consider the discovery posture of the case, the willfulness, and the degree of prejudice. *Samples*, 329 S.C. at 112, 495 S.E.2d at 216 (discussing the proper analysis where a party willfully concealed discoverable information). And if the misconduct involves bad faith, willful disobedience, or gross indifference to a party's rights, the option to strike a pleading is available. *Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc.*, 334 S.C. at 199, 511 S.E.2d at 719.

Here, the circuit court performed the proper analysis. As Respondent has explained, the circuit court found Appellants' misconduct was intentional and the resulting prejudice to Respondent was substantial. Under these circumstances, Appellants' concealment of Blue Max Trucking was sufficient to justify the circuit court's sanctions order.

B. Appellants' failure to comply with court orders, failure to produce discoverable information, misrepresentations about their discovery efforts, and general interference with Respondent's ability to prepare for trial also warranted the striking of Appellants' answer.

Although Appellants' concealment of Blue Max Trucking was the focus of the sanctions order, the circuit court also relied on several other instances of discovery misconduct in determining it was proper to strike Appellants' answer. The circuit court found Appellants violated discovery orders, misrepresented their efforts to participate in discovery, withheld information, and consistently failed to provide or supplement discovery responses in a timely manner.

Although the circuit court identified numerous abuses in its order, Appellants only address one in their brief. Appellants contend the circuit court incorrectly determined they violated the August 27, 2020 order granting Respondent's motion to compel and the May 17, 2021 scheduling order. Respondent will discuss each order in turn.

The August 27, 2020 order granted Respondent's motion to compel as to "post-accident incident reports" and "post-accident drug testing"—records that the circuit court determined would "certainly be relevant and not subject to any applicable privilege." (R. p. 8). In its sanctions order, the circuit court reached the obvious conclusion that because Appellants have never produced a post-accident incident report or a post-accident drug test, they violated the order. (R. p. 28).

Appellants argue that although they have never provided the records in question, they did not violate the August 27, 2020 order. (App. Br. at 7-10). They claim their failure should be excused because the circuit court's order acknowledged Appellants' representation that they had conducted extensive searches and could not find the documents. (App. Br. at 8). As to the post-accident drug test, Appellants argue Smoak "misspoke" when he testified in his deposition that he provided a drug test after this accident. (App. Br. at 9).

Contrary to Appellants' position, nothing in the August 27, 2020 order stated that Appellants were excused from compliance simply because of their representation that "efforts to locate these documents to date has been fruitless[.]" (R. p. 8). Plainly, when the circuit court granted Respondent's motion to compel as to the post-accident incident reports and the post-accident drug test, it expected Appellants to either produce those documents or otherwise confirm that they could not do so. (*Id.*). Indeed, in its sanctions order, the circuit court explicitly found Appellants had not complied with the previous order. (R. p. 28). The circuit court further found that Appellants had not presented any justification for their failure to do so. (R. p. 28 n.5).¹¹

The same is true today. Appellant Smoak testified in his deposition that he provided a written statement to Murray Sand and took a drug test after this accident. (R. p. 97, line 13-p. 99, line 25; R. p. 128 lines 3-18; R. p. 170 lines 3-12). Appellants present no explanation or argument respecting their failure to provide the post-accident incident report. And as to the drug test, they continue to insist that Smoak's sworn testimony was mistaken. However, as noted by the circuit court, "Smoak has never contradicted his deposition testimony, via affidavit or otherwise[.]" and Appellants "have never produced an affidavit of a records custodian explaining that the test results do not exist." (R. p. 28 n.5). Indeed, Appellants did not even attempt to explain the missing drug test in the affidavit they submitted along with their motion to reconsider the sanctions order. Thus, the Court should affirm the circuit court's determination that Appellants violated the August 27, 2020 order.

Appellants also violated the May 17, 2021 consent scheduling order, which contained two deadlines that are relevant for purposes of this appeal: it provided a September 1, 2021 deadline

¹¹ Importantly, the Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr. presided over both the motion to compel and the motion for sanctions, along with most of the other discovery motions in this case. He was intimately familiar with the discovery posture of the proceeding.

for written discovery, and it provided that the case would be subject to trial on or after November 1, 2021. (R. pp. 11-13). The circuit court found Appellants' violation of this order was "particularly egregious[.]" (R. p. 28). Although Appellants only produced approximately 1,000 documents prior to the discovery deadline, Appellants "produced over 5,000 documents after the discovery deadline and after representing to the Court and Plaintiff on multiple occasions that they had conducted exhaustive searches and produced all documents in their possession." (*Id.*).

Appellants' sole argument relies on the provision of the order allowing the parties to "supplement[] written discovery responses" after the September 1, 2021 deadline. (R. p. 11); (App. Br. at 10-11). Appellants contend there was no violation because subpoena responses accounted for the majority of the September 30, 2021 production. (*Id.*). This argument fails.

As the circuit court found, the September 30 production included accident registers, information about an excess insurance policy, and the Blue Max Trucking document—all of which were "certainly available to Defendants when they received Plaintiff's first discovery requests in May 2019." (R. pp. 26-27). The production also included hundreds of pages of safety meeting documents and tax returns which, again, would have been in Appellants possession since the onset of the litigation. (R. pp. 17-18). Plainly, these materials cannot be considered "supplements" allowed under the scheduling order. Furthermore, while Appellants urge the Court to focus on the subpoena responses that were part of the September 30 production, they conveniently leave out any explanation of when those subpoena responses were received. For these reasons, the circuit court did not err in concluding the 5,000 plus page document dump a month prior to the case being subject to trial violated the scheduling order.

Finally, as noted above, Appellants fail to address the other discovery misconduct the circuit court relied upon in determining it was proper to strike Appellants' answer. Appellants

provide no explanation for their failure to produce the accident registers and information about excess liability coverage until over two years into the litigation. As the circuit court concluded, “the only logical explanation is that Defendants intentionally withheld these documents until after mediation and the discovery deadline to devalue Plaintiff’s case.” (R. p. 27).

Similarly, Appellants fail to explain several representations they made to the circuit court about their discovery efforts that later proved to be inaccurate. Within the first year and a half of this litigation, Appellants stated the following with respect to the materials in their possession:

- “Defendant Murray Sand has spent a number of hours diligently searching for the records Plaintiff claims have been withheld, and has not, to date, discovered the documents Plaintiff describes in her memorandum. Murray Sand is not in possession of the documents Plaintiff seeks, as is indicated in Defendant’s attached supplemental responses to Plaintiff’s discovery requests. The only remaining document Murray Sand has uncovered in its extensive search for the documents identified by Plaintiff as withheld, is an employee handbook predating the handbook previously produced, which has since been supplied to counsel for Plaintiff.” (R. p. 198).
- “[A]s I stated and as you’ll see repeatedly in our voluminous responses to these discovery requests, that I’ve given them everything I’ve got. I’ve had my client search and search and search again. This is not a situation where my client is trying to be deceptive.” (R. p. 667).
- “That being said, even after extensive searches, the only thing that he came up with is an additional handbook which I turned over immediately.” (R. pp. 667-68).
- “Everything I’ve got has been turned over and has been turned over for a very long time.” (R. p. 669).

Of course, well over a year after making these representations, Appellants produced over 5,000 pages of documents. The circuit court referenced that fact repeatedly in determining it was proper to strike Appellants’ answer. (R. pp. 15-18, 27-28).

More generally, the circuit court found that Appellants’ failure to participate in discovery prevented Respondent from preparing for trial. The circuit court examined Appellants’ discovery

responses throughout the case and determined that Appellants “consistently failed to provide or supplement discovery responses in a timely fashion” and “repeatedly provided dilatory and incomplete discovery responses.” (R. pp. 15-17, 21, 32). The circuit court correctly found Appellants’ approach to discovery prevented Respondent from learning “basic information about the accident in a timely manner,” thereby preventing her from preparing for trial. (R. p. 32). Although Appellants wish to ignore these findings, they firmly support the circuit court’s decision to strike Appellants’ answer. *See Innovative Waste Mgmt., Inc. v. Crest Energy Partners GP, LLC*, 445 S.C. 19, 911 S.E.2d 406 (2025) (affirming an order striking a party’s pleadings where the party “missed discovery response deadlines; failed to fully comply with motions to compel; represented to the court they would cooperate in discovery, but then failed to follow through; and failed to pay past monetary sanctions,” all of which amounted to “a deliberate pattern of discovery abuse”).

C. Appellants’ remaining arguments are unpreserved and without merit.

Appellants raise two additional arguments in an attempt to assign error to the circuit court. Appellants contend it was improper for the circuit court to strike Appellant Smoak’s answer because there is no evidence he committed any discovery abuse. (App. Br. at 6). Appellants also contend the circuit court erred by failing to consider a lesser sanction that would sufficiently address their misconduct. (App. Br. at 19-20).

First, relying on this Court’s decision in *Karppi*, Appellants contend the circuit court failed to consider the impact of its sanctions order on “multiple-party litigation.” (App. Br. at 6). They claim that because Smoak did not engage in discovery misconduct, it was improper for the circuit court to strike his answer. (*Id.*).

As noted above, Appellants did not submit a memorandum in opposition to Respondent’s motion for sanctions. During the hearing on Respondent’s motion, Appellants never attempted to

distinguish between the discovery misconduct attributable to Smoak as opposed to Murray Sand, nor did they raise the specific argument that it would be improper for the circuit court to strike Smoak's answer. Instead, Appellants raised this argument for the first time in their motion to reconsider. (R. p. 542). Accordingly, this issue is not preserved. *See Dixon v. Dixon*, 362 S.C. 388, 399, 608 S.E.2d 849, 854 (2005) (holding that an issue raised for the first time in a Rule 59, SCRCRCP, motion is not preserved for appellate review).

Nevertheless, Appellants' argument that the circuit court erred in striking Smoak's answer fails on the merits. Although Appellants are correct that the circuit court did not identify any discovery abuse committed by Smoak, that is in part because Smoak was incarcerated throughout this litigation and was not able to participate in discovery. (R. p. 84). More importantly, the circuit court focused on Murray Sand's conduct because this accident occurred while Smoak was acting in the course and scope of his employment, and Murray Sand has always been responsible for the defense of this action. Murray Sand and Smoak are represented by the same counsel, they are covered under the same liability insurance, and they filed a joint answer to Respondent's amended complaint. (R. pp. 369-74).

Accordingly, Appellants' alignment in this case is completely different than the defendants' alignment in *Karppi*. In that case, Karppi brought claims relating to his purchase of defective floor covering material. He sued Greenville Terrazzo, the retailer he purchased the material from, and Ogden Teck, the manufacturer. Ogden Teck then filed a counterclaim against Karppi, as well as a cross-claim against Greenville Terrazzo. Ultimately, after Ogden Teck failed to provide discovery requested by Karppi, the circuit court struck Ogden Teck's answer, its counterclaim, and its cross-claim. 327 S.C. at 542, 489 S.E.2d at 681.

This Court reversed, concluding the circuit court “failed to properly tailor its sanction to address the specific violation committed by Ogden Teck vis-à-vis Karppi.” *Id.* at 543, 489 S.E.2d at 682. Specifically, the Court held that by striking Ogden Teck’s cross-claim, the circuit court provided Greenville Terrazzo a “windfall”—even though there was no evidence that Ogden Teck violated Greenville Terrazzo’s discovery rights. *Id.* at 543-44, 489 S.E.2d at 682. Notably, the Court also held the sanction prejudiced Greenville Terrazzo by restricting its ability to defend against Karppi’s allegations. *Id.* at 544, 489 S.E.2d at 682-83 (explaining that because liability was presumed as to Ogden Teck, Greenville Terrazzo was summarily stripped of its ability to defend Karppi’s claims on the ground that the materials it sold were not defective).

In sum, *Karppi* involved a unique situation where the sanction imposed against one defendant both benefitted and injured another defendant undeservedly. That is not the situation here. Respondent, who was the subject of Appellants’ discovery abuse, is the only party that benefits from the sanctions order. And although the sanctions order adversely impacts Smoak, it only does so because of his connection to Murray Sand. Indeed, because Murray Sand is vicariously liable, it effectively stands in the shoes of Smoak. *See James v. Kelly Trucking Co.*, 377 S.C. 628, 634, 661 S.E.2d 329, 332 (2008). Again, Smoak and Murray Sand have been united throughout this litigation; they share the same counsel and are covered by the same liability insurance.

If the Court were to reverse the sanctions order as to Smoak, the only party that would receive a “windfall” is Murray Sand. Appellants’ counsel would be able to defend the case on behalf of Smoak, which would confer a direct benefit on Murray Sand by limiting its vicarious liability. In that situation, Murray Sand would be able to avoid the consequences of its discovery

misconduct altogether. For these reasons, the Court should affirm the circuit court's decision to strike Smoak's answer.

Finally, Appellants argue the sanctions order should be reversed because the circuit court failed to consider and reject a lesser available sanction. (App. Br. at 19). Appellants acknowledge several portions of the sanctions order where the circuit court explicitly stated no lesser sanction would be adequate. (*Id.*) (quoting R. p. 32). According to Appellants, however, the circuit court erred because it did not specifically describe the alternative sanctions it considered and explain why they would not be adequate. (*Id.*).

This argument is also unpreserved. Appellants were certainly free to encourage the circuit court to consider alternative sanctions, but Appellants failed to do so. Because this argument was never raised to the circuit court, it is not properly before the Court. *See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (explaining that a party "must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments").

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